

**Joe Lombardo**  
*Governor*



**Jack Robb**  
*Director*

**Joy Grimmer**  
*Deputy Director*

**Dean A. Hardy, Esq.**  
*Senior Appeals Officer*

**STATE OF NEVADA**  
**DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION**

***Hearings Division***

**<http://hearings.nv.gov/>**

**Northern Nevada:**  
*Hearing Office*  
1050 E. Williams St. Ste. 400  
Carson City, Nevada 89701  
(775) 687-8440 | Fax (775) 687-8441

*Appeals Office*  
1050 E. William St. Ste. 450  
Carson City, Nevada 89701  
(775) 687-8420 | Fax (775) 687-8421

**Southern Nevada:**  
*Hearing Office*  
2200 S. Rancho Drive, Ste. 150  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89102  
(702) 486-2525 | Fax (702) 486-2879

*Appeals Office*  
2200 S. Rancho Drive, Ste. 220  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89102  
(702) 486-2527 | Fax (702) 486-2555

**May 9, 2024**

**NOTICE OF INTENT TO ACT UPON A REGULATION**

Notice of Hearing for the Adoption/Amendment of Regulations of the State of Nevada Department of Administration Hearings Division as proposed in LCB File No. R102-23

The Hearings Division of the Department of Administration (“Hearings Division”) will hold a public hearing on June 13, 2024, at 10:00 am at 2200 S. Rancho Drive, Suite 220, Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 concerning regulations for an electronic filing system. The purpose of this hearing is to receive comments from all interested persons regarding such regulations.

Persons with disabilities who require special accommodation or assistance at the public hearing is required to notify the Hearings Division in writing at least three (3) business days prior the scheduled hearing date.

The following information is provided pursuant to the requirements of Nevada Revised Statute (NRS) 233B.0603:

- 1. The need and the purpose of the proposed regulations and/or amendments:** This regulation is needed because the Hearings Division currently does not have the authority to implement an electronic filing system.
- 2. Description of the proposed regulation, or the subjects and issues involved:** The proposed regulation enables the Hearings Division to implement an electronic filing system. Currently there are no regulations that allow for the development of an electronic filing system.
- 3. Estimated economic effect of the regulation on the business which it is to regulate and on the public:** The development and implementation of an electronic filing system will dramatically reduce current costs for the stakeholders that have cases in the Hearings Division.
- 4. Methods used by the agency in determining the impact on a small business:** Each filer should see a dramatic reduction in costs to litigate cases in the Hearings Division. No longer will a filer be required to physically transport documents to the Hearings Division or to opposing parties. Documents will be submitted electronically thereby eliminating the necessity of copying, transporting, and physically serving documents. The electronic filing system should reduce costs for all the filers within the system.
- 5. The estimated cost to the agency for enforcement of the proposed regulation:** No costs.
- 6. Description and citation of duplicative or overlapping regulations of other state or local governmental agencies:** There is no duplication or overlap of regulations of state or local government agencies.

7. **Is the regulation required by federal law?** This regulation is not required pursuant to federal law.
8. **Does the regulation include provision more stringent than a federal regulation regarding the same activity?** There is no federal law affecting or overlapping the proposed regulations.
9. **Does the proposed regulation establish a new fee or increase an existing fee?** The proposed regulations do not establish a new fee nor increase an existing fee of the regulating agency.

Persons wishing to comment upon the proposed action of the Hearings Division may appear at the scheduled public hearing or may address their comments, data, views, or arguments, in written form, to Nevada Department of Administration, Hearings Division 2200 S. Rancho Drive, Suite 220, Las Vegas, NV 89102. Written submissions must be received by the Hearings Division on or before June 7, 2024. If no person who is directly affected by the proposed action appears to request time to make an oral presentation, the Hearings Division may proceed immediately to act upon any written submissions.

**Members of the public may attend and participate in this meeting in the following ways:**

1. **Physical attendance at the Hearings Division office: 2200 S. Rancho Dr., Suite 220, Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 or**
2. **Telephonic attendance by dialing +1 775-321-6111 and entering Phone conference ID: 943 191 383#**

A copy of this notice and the regulation to be adopted/amended will be on file at the State Library, 100 Stewart Street, Carson City, Nevada, for inspection by members of the public during business hours. Additional copies of the notice and the regulation to be adopted/amended will be also be at each of the Hearings Division offices as listed below for inspection and copying by members of the public during business hours. This notice and the text of the proposed regulation are also available in the State of Nevada Register of Administrative Regulations, which is prepared and published monthly by the Legislative Counsel Bureau pursuant to NRS 233B.0653, and on the Internet at <Http://www.leg.state.nv.us>. Copies of this notice and the proposed regulation will also be mailed to members of the public at no charge upon request.

This Notice of Hearing regarding the Regulations for Electronic Filing System has been sent to all persons on the agency's mailing list for administrative regulations and posted at the following locations:

- Hearings Division at 2200 S. Rancho Drive, Suite **220**, Las Vegas, Nevada 89102
- Hearings Division at 2200 S. Rancho Drive, Suite **150**, Las Vegas, Nevada 89102
- Hearings Division at 1050 E. William Street, Suite **400**, Carson City, Nevada 89701
- Hearings Division at 1050 E. William Street, Suite **450**, Carson City, Nevada 89701
- Hearings Division Website: <https://hearings.nv.gov/>
- Nevada Legislature's Notice Website: <https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/Notice/A/>
- Nevada's Public Notice Website: <https://www.notice.nv.gov/>

**Notice required by NRS 233B.064:** Upon adoption of any regulation, the agency, if requested to do so by an interested person, either before adoption or within 30 days thereafter, will issue a concise statement of the principal reasons for and against its adoption and incorporate therein its reason for overruling the consideration urged against its adoption.

**PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA  
DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION  
HEARINGS DIVISION  
June 13, 2024, 10:00 a.m.**

**Notice:** (1) Items on the Agenda may be taken out of order; (2) the Hearings Division may combine two or more Agenda items for consideration; and (3) the Hearings Division may remove an item on the Agenda at any time; (4) Comments by individuals will be limited to five minutes and comments by spokespersons for a group will be limited to ten minutes.

- I. Call to Order.**
- II. Public Comment.** The opportunity for public comment is reserved for any matter listed below on the Agenda as well as any matter within the jurisdiction of the Hearings Division. No action on such an item may be taken by the Hearings Division unless and until the matter has been noticed as an action item. Comment may not be restricted based on viewpoint.
- III. Discussion of Proposed Permanent Regulation-**amendment/adoption of regulations that pertain to Chapter 616C of the Nevada Administrative Code.
- IV. Public Comment.** The opportunity for public comment is reserved for any matter within the jurisdiction of the Hearings Division. No action on such an item may be taken by the Hearings Division unless and until the matter has been noticed as an action item. Comment may not be restricted based on viewpoint.
- V. Adjournment.**

**REVISED PROPOSED REGULATION OF THE CHIEF  
OF THE HEARINGS DIVISION OF  
THE DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION**

**LCB File No. R102-23**

April 22, 2024

EXPLANATION – Matter in *italics* is new; matter in brackets ~~[omitted material]~~ is material to be omitted.

AUTHORITY: §§ 1-7, NRS 616C.310.

A REGULATION relating to industrial insurance; requiring the Hearings Division of the Department of Administration to develop and maintain an electronic filing system for contested cases; requiring the use of the electronic filing system by certain parties; requiring the Hearings Division to facilitate access to the electronic filing system by certain parties; revising provisions governing the filing and service of process of documents related to contested cases; providing that certain procedures relating to contested cases apply to licensed representatives; and providing other matters properly relating thereto.

**Legislative Counsel’s Digest:**

Existing law authorizes an aggrieved party in a contested case relating to industrial insurance to: (1) request a hearing before a hearing officer; and (2) appeal from a decision of a hearing officer or from a determination made by certain parties. (NRS 616C.315, 616C.345) Existing law authorizes the Chief of the Hearings Division of the Department of Administration to establish regulations to provide for specific procedures for the determination of contested cases. (NRS 616C.310) **Section 1** of this regulation requires the Hearings Division to: (1) develop and maintain an electronic filing system for the filing and service of documents relating to a contested case; (2) facilitate access to the electronic filing system by a party who is not represented by counsel or by a licensed representative; and (3) provide training in the use of the electronic filing system. **Section 1** also requires a party to a contested case to use the electronic filing system unless the party is not represented by counsel or by a licensed representative. **Section 3** of this regulation makes conforming changes to existing regulations relating to the filing and service of documents in contested cases to account for the use of the electronic filing system.

Existing regulations set forth the procedure for parties to a contested claim to forego a hearing before a hearing officer and submit the contested claim directly to an appeals officer, including a requirement that the parties submit to the hearing officer a written stipulation signed by the insurer or a third-party administrator and the employer. (NAC 616C.275) **Section 2** of this regulation provides instead that the written stipulation must be signed by the: (1) insurer or third-

party administrator, or their respective counsel; and (2) employer or employer's counsel or licensed representative.

Existing regulations provide that proof of service in a contested case may be made by certificate of the counsel for a party or of the counsel's employee. (NAC 616C.294) **Section 4** of this regulation provides that proof of service may also be made by certificate of the licensed representative for a party or of the licensed representative's employee.

Existing regulations provide that certain papers and documents filed in a contested case do not need to conform to any particular format. (NAC 616C.303) **Section 5** of this regulation removes this requirement. **Section 5** also eliminates a requirement for a party to furnish to other parties copies of certain papers and documents.

Existing regulations provide that counsel of record is deemed to be counsel for the party until written notice of the withdrawal and the substitution of counsel is filed with the appeals officers. (NAC 616C.321) **Section 6** of this regulation provides that the counsel or licensed representative of record, as applicable, is deemed to be the counsel or licensed representative for the party until written notice of the withdrawal and substitution of counsel or licensed representative is filed with the appeals officer.

**Section 1.** Chapter 616C of NAC is hereby amended by adding thereto a new section to read as follows:

*1. The Hearings Division will develop and maintain an electronic filing system for the filing and service of documents relating to a contested case under chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS. In developing and implementing the electronic filing system, the Hearings Division will, to the extent practicable, ensure consistency with the Nevada Electronic Filing and Conversion Rules adopted by the Nevada Supreme Court.*

*2. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, a party to a contested case under chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS must use the electronic filing system. A party is not required to use the electronic filing system if he or she is not represented by counsel or by a licensed representative.*

*3. A party who is not represented by counsel or by a licensed representative may use the electronic filing system by delivering a document to the Hearings Division. The Hearings Division will facilitate any such party's access to the electronic filing system.*

***4. The Hearings Division will provide training in the use of the electronic filing system described in this section.***

**Sec. 2.** NAC 616C.275 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.275 1. Parties to a contested claim who wish to forego a hearing before a hearing officer and submit the contested claim directly to an appeals officer must:

(a) If a request for a hearing before a hearing officer has been filed, submit to the hearing officer a written stipulation to forego the hearing before the hearing officer.

(b) If a request for a hearing before a hearing officer has not been filed, submit to a hearing officer a request for a hearing and a written stipulation to forego the hearing before the hearing officer.

2. The written stipulation required by subsection 1 must be signed by:

(a) The claimant's legal counsel;

(b) The insurer ~~[or]~~, *the insurer's counsel*, a third-party administrator ~~[or]~~ *or the third-party administrator's counsel, as applicable*; and

(c) The employer ~~[or]~~ *or the employer's counsel or licensed representative*, if the employer *or the employer's counsel or licensed representative* has notified the parties or the Hearings Division that ~~[he or she]~~ *the employer* will participate in the contested claim.

**Sec. 3.** NAC 616C.291 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.291 For the purposes of NAC 616C.282 to 616C.336, inclusive:

1. Filing occurs :

*(a) If a party is required to use the electronic filing system pursuant to subsection 2 of section 1 of this regulation, when the party submits the original document to the electronic filing system.*

*(b) If a party is not required to use the electronic filing system pursuant to subsection 2 of section 1 of this regulation, when the original document is received by and is in the actual physical custody of the Hearings Division ~~[-~~*

~~—2.]~~ *in conformance with one of the following:*

*(1) By personal delivery to the office of the Hearings Division.*

*(2) Except as otherwise provided in this subparagraph, by facsimile.* A document over five pages in length may not be filed by facsimile unless so ordered or approved in advance by a hearing or appeals officer. If a document which is five pages or less in length is received by facsimile, the document will be accepted and the date of receipt stamped on the document. If a document is received by facsimile and the original of the document is received within 3 business days after it is received by facsimile, the original will be stamped with the date it is received, but shall be deemed filed on the date the facsimile was received.

~~[-3.]~~ *(3) Except as otherwise provided in this subparagraph, by electronic mail.* A document may be filed by electronic mail upon prior written approval of the Hearings Division. A document filed by electronic mail must be:

~~[(a)]~~ *(I)* Accompanied by an acknowledgment of receipt.

~~[(b)]~~ *(II)* Sent to the secretary for the hearing or appeals officer and to each party to the proceeding.

~~[-4.— Except as otherwise provided in subsection 6 of NRS 616C.345, if service is to be made upon a party represented by counsel or by a licensed representative, the service must be made upon counsel or the licensed representative unless service upon the party is ordered by the appeals officer.~~

~~—5.—~~ 2. Except as otherwise provided in *this* subsection , ~~[8.]~~ service upon counsel , *upon a licensed representative* or upon a party must be made *by use of the electronic filing system described in section 1 of this regulation. If the electronic filing system is not required to be used pursuant to subsection 2 of section 1 of this regulation, service must be made by* ~~[delivering or]~~ *one of the following:*

(a) *By mailing a copy of the document to the party's counsel or licensed representative or to the other party at his or her last known address .* ~~[or, if the address is not known, by leaving the copy at the office of the hearing or appeals officer.~~

~~—6.—~~ ~~Delivery of]~~ *Service by mail pursuant to this paragraph is complete upon mailing. Any document served by mail shall be deemed received 3 days after it is mailed.*

(b) *By personally delivering* a copy of the document ~~[is made by:~~

~~—(a) Handing it]~~ to the *other* party or his or her counsel ~~;~~

~~—(b) Leaving it at the office of the party or his or her counsel with a clerk or other person in charge thereof or, if there is no one in charge, leaving it in a conspicuous place therein;]~~ or *licensed representative.*

(c) Leaving ~~[it]~~ *a copy of the document* at the ~~[dwelling house or usual place of abode of the person to be served with some person of suitable age and discretion residing therein.~~

~~—7.—~~ ~~Service by mail is complete upon mailing. Any document served by mail shall be deemed received 3 days after it is mailed.~~

~~—8.—~~ ~~If requested by a party or his or her counsel,]~~ *office of* the Hearings Division . ~~[will serve a document upon the party or his or her counsel by placing the document in a folder maintained for that purpose at the Hearings Division's office. If such a folder is maintained by the Hearings Division, it will be available for inspection by the party or his or her counsel during the regular~~



~~business hours of the Hearings Division. A document served pursuant to this subsection shall be deemed received 3 days after the document is placed in the party's folder.]~~

**Sec. 4.** NAC 616C.294 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.294 Proof of service may be made by certificate of the counsel *or licensed representative* for a party or of the counsel's *or licensed representative's* employee, or by written admission, affidavit, or other proof satisfactory to the appeals officer. Failure to make proof of service does not affect the validity of service.

**Sec. 5.** NAC 616C.303 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.303 1. ~~[Papers]~~ *All papers* and documents *and copies thereof* filed pursuant to NAC 616C.282 to 616C.336, inclusive, ~~[need not conform to any particular format.~~

~~—2.— All papers and documents and copies thereof]~~ *and section 1 of this regulation* must be legible.

~~[3.— A party shall furnish to the counsel for any other party, or to the party if he or she is not represented by counsel, copies of all papers and documents served upon any party or filed with the appeals officer.~~

~~—4.]~~ 2. Papers and documents offered as evidence, except for good cause shown, must not be marked with highlighting, underlining, any annotation, or other device that serves to draw attention to one part of the document over another part or one document over another document or to comment on the contents of the document.

~~[5.]~~ 3. Papers and documents submitted to an appeals officer must:

(a) Have any personal identifying information redacted; and

(b) If personal identifying information has been redacted, include an affirmation that the submitted papers and documents do not contain the personal identifying information of any person,

↳ unless the identity of the person is at issue.

~~[6.]~~ 4. Papers and documents submitted without the affirmation required pursuant to paragraph (b) of subsection ~~[5]~~ 3 must not be accepted into evidence in any proceeding before an appeals officer.

~~[7.]~~ 5. As used in this section, “personal identifying information” has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 616C.310.

**Sec. 6.** NAC 616C.321 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.321 ~~[Counsel]~~ *The counsel or licensed representative* of record , *as applicable*, shall be deemed to be *the* counsel *or licensed representative* for the party in all proceedings before the appeals officer until written notice of the withdrawal and the substitution of counsel *or licensed representative* is filed with the appeals officer.

**Sec. 7.** This regulation becomes effective on the later of:

1. The date on which it is approved by the Legislative Commission and filed with the Secretary of State pursuant to NRS 233B.070; or

2. July 1, 2024.